

The logo of the California Coastal Commission, featuring a stylized wave inside a circle.

References

Akins, Damon, B. and Bauer Jr., William, J. (2022). *We Are the Land: A History of Native California*. University of California Press.
<https://www.ucpress.edu/book/9780520280502/we-are-the-land>.

Anderson, R., Griggs, G., Lester, C., Patsch, K. (2020). Adapting to shoreline retreat: Finding a path forward. *Shore & Beach*, 88(4), 1-21.

Anguelovski, I, Connolly, JTT, Pearsall, H, Shokry, G, Checker, M, Maantay, J, Gould, K, Lewis, T, Maroko, A, & J Timmons Roberts. (2019). Why green “climate gentrification” threatens poor and vulnerable populations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, Volume 116, Issue 52. <https://www.pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.1920490117>.

Assembly Bill No. 2616, Burke. (2016). Chapter 578 An act to amend Sections 30301 and 30604 of, and to add Sections 30013 and 30107.3 to, the Public Resources Code, relating to coastal resources. http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/15-16/bill/asm/ab_2601-2650/ab_2616_bill_20160924_chaptered.htm

Barlow TM, EG Reichard. 2010. Saltwater intrusion in coastal regions of North America. *Hydrogeology Journal* 18: 247-260. [doi: 10.1007/s10040-009-0514-3](https://doi.org/10.1007/s10040-009-0514-3)

Barnard, P.L., Erikson, L.H., Foxgrover, A.C. et al. Dynamic flood modeling essential to assess the coastal impacts of climate change. *Sci Rep* 9, 4309 (2019). <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40742-z>

Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC). 1968. San Francisco Bay Plan. <https://bcdc.ca.gov/pdf/bayplan/bayplan.pdf>.

Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC). 2011. Climate Change Bay Plan Amendment. Adopted October 6, 2011. <https://bcdc.ca.gov/pdf/bayplan/bayplan.pdf>

Bedsworth, L, D Cayan, G Franco, L Fisher, S Ziaja. (CA Governor’s Office of Planning and Research, Scripps Institution of Oceanography, CA Energy Commission, CA Public Utilities Commission). 2018. Statewide Summary Report. California’s Fourth Climate Change Assessment. <http://www.climateassessment.ca.gov/state/index.html>

Befus, K. M., Barnard, P. L., Hoover, D. J., Finzi Hart, J. A., & Voss, C. I. (2020). Increasing threat of coastal groundwater hazards from sea level rise in California. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(10), 946–952. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0874-1>

Berry-James, R.M., Gooden, S.T. and Johnson, R.G., III (2020), Civil Rights, Social Equity, and Census 2020. *Public Admin Rev*, 80: 1100-1108. <https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13285>

Black, M., Chief, K., Jacobs, K; Schuyler, C., & Lynn, R. (2015). Tribal Leaders Summit on Climate Change: A Focus on Climate Adaptation Planning and Implementation. <https://www.sciencebase.gov/catalog/item/57daca21e4b090824ffc3161>.

Bromirski, P. D. (2023). Climate-Induced Decadal Ocean Wave Height Variability From Microseisms: 1931–2021. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 128(8), e2023JC019722. <https://doi.org/10.1029/2023JC019722>

Buma, B., Gordon, D.R., Kleisner, K.M. et al. 2024. Expert review of the science underlying nature-based climate solutions. *Nature Climate Change*. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-024-01960-0>.

Caldwell MR, EH Hartge, LC Ewing, G Griggs, RP Kelly, SC Moser, SG Newkirk, RA Smyth, CB Woodson. 2013. Coastal Issues. In: *Assessment of Climate Change in the Southwest United States: A Report Prepared for the National Climate Assessment*, [G Garfin, A Jardine, R Merideth, M Black, S LeRoy (eds.)]. Pp. 168-196. A report by the Southwest Climate Alliance. Washington, DC: Island Press. <http://www.swcarr.arizona.edu/>.

California Air Resources Board. 2022. Scoping Plan for Achieving Carbon Neutrality <https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2023-04/2022-sp.pdf>

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 1989. Planning for an Accelerated Sea Level Along the California Coast. Staff report drafted by L Ewing, J Michaels and D McCarthy. 85 pp. <http://www.coastal.ca.gov/climate/PlanningAccelSLR.pdf>.

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2001. Overview of Sea Level Rise and Some Implications for Coastal California. Report prepared by Staff, June 1, 2001. 58pp. <http://www.coastal.ca.gov/climate/SeaLevelRise2001.pdf>.

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2006. Discussion Draft: Global Warming and the California Coastal Commission. Briefing prepared by Staff, December 12, 2006. 9 pp. <http://documents.coastal.ca.gov/reports/2006/12/Th3-12-2006.pdf>.

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2008a. Climate Change and Research Considerations. White paper prepared by Staff, September 29, 2008. 6 pp. http://www.coastal.ca.gov/climate/ccc_whitepaper.pdf.

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2008b. A Summary of the Coastal Commission's Involvement in Climate Change and Global Warming Issues for a Briefing to the Coastal Commission. Briefing prepared by Commission Staff Climate Change Task Force, December 12, 2008. 54 pp. <http://documents.coastal.ca.gov/reports/2008/12/F3.5-12-2008.pdf>.

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2013b. Local Coastal Program (LCP) Update Guide. Updates to original 2007 document, revised July 2013. 129 pp. <https://www.coastal.ca.gov/rflg/lcp-planning.html>

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2013c. Tips/Best Practices for Processing LCP Amendments. Prepared November 12, 2013. 3 pp.
https://documents.coastal.ca.gov/assets/la/TipsLCPAmend_Nov2013.pdf.

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2019. Environmental Justice Policy.
https://documents.coastal.ca.gov/assets/env-justice/CCC_EJ_Policy_FINAL.pdf

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2019. Local Coastal Program (LCP): Local Assistance Grant Program <https://www.coastal.ca.gov/lcp/grants/>

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2021. Sea Level Rise Coastal Adaptation Planning Guidance for Critical Infrastructure. <https://www.coastal.ca.gov/climate/slr/vulnerability-adaptation/infrastructure/>

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2021. Strategic Plan 2021-2025. Approved November 2020. 45 pp.
https://documents.coastal.ca.gov/assets/strategicplan/CCC_Strategic_Plan_Adopted_11.06.20_Rev.pdf

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2023. Public Trust Guiding Principles and Action Plan: Carrying out the California Coastal Act and Public Trust Doctrine in an era of climate change and sea level rise. https://documents.coastal.ca.gov/assets/public-trust/Public%20Trust%20Guidance%20and%20Action%20Plan_Adopted.pdf

California Coastal Commission (CCC). 2024. Resources for Addressing Environmental Justice through Local Coastal Programs. 42 pp.
https://documents.coastal.ca.gov/assets/lcp/LPUUpdate/EJandLCPResources_CoastalCommission.pdf

California Department of Parks and Recreation. 2015. Sea Level Rise Adaptation Strategy https://www.parks.ca.gov/pages/734/files/StateParks_SLR_Strategy.pdf

California Government. 2018. California Fourth Climate Change Assessment

California Governor's Office of Emergency Services (Cal OES). 2023. California State Hazard Plan. https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Hazard-Mitigation/Documents/2023-California-SHMP_Volume-1_11.10.2023.pdf

California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC). 2024. <https://nahc.ca.gov/>

California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA). 2009. California Climate Adaptation Strategy. 197pp.

California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA). 2010. State of the State's Wetlands: 10 Years of Challenges and Progress. 42pp.
http://www.resources.ca.gov/docs/SOSW_report_with_cover_memo_10182010.pdf.

California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA). 2014. Safeguarding California: Reducing Climate Risk. An update to the 2009 California Climate Assessment. 343pp.
http://resources.ca.gov/docs/climate/Final_Safeguarding_CA_Plan_July_31_2014.pdf.

California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA). 2021. California Climate Adaptation Strategy.
<https://climateresilience.ca.gov/>

California Natural Resources Agency. (2020). Making California's Coast Resilient to Sea Level Rise: Principles for Aligned State Action. California Natural Resources Agency. Sacramento, California. http://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/media_library/2020/05/State-SLR-Principles_FINAL_April-2020.pdf

California Natural Resources Agency. 2020. Environmental Justice Policy.
<https://www.conservation.ca.gov/Documents/Environmental%20Justice%20Policy%20-%20CNRA.pdf>

California State Coastal Conservancy. 2009. 2011. Climate Change Policy.
<https://scc.ca.gov/climatechange/climatechangepolicy/#:~:text=The%20Conservancy%20will%20encourage%20use,Carbon%20Reduction%20and%20Offsets>.

California State Lands Commission. 2022. AB 691: Local Trustees Prepare for Sea Level Rise.
<https://slc.ca.gov/ab691/>.

California State Lands Commission. 2023. Shoreline Adaptation and the Public Trust: Protecting California's Public Trust Resources from Sea Level Rise. <https://www.slc.ca.gov/sea-level-rise/shorelineadaptationreport/#:~:text=and%20Benchmark%20Information-,Shoreline%20Adaptation%20and%20the%20Public%20Trust%3A%20Protecting%20California's%20Public,Resources%20from%20Sea%20Level%20Rise&text=This%20report%20was%20developed%20to,structures%20on%20ungranted%20state%20tidelands>.

Cayan D, M Tyree, M Dettinger, H Hidalgo, T Das, E Maurer, P Bromirski, N Graham, R Flick. 2009. Climate Change Scenarios and Sea Level Rise Estimates for the California 2009 Climate Change Scenarios Assessment. California Climate Change Center, CEC-500-2009-014-F. 50pp.
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/231181370_Climate_change_scenarios_and_sea_level_rise_estimates_for_the_California_2009_climate_change_scenarios_assessment

Climate Justice Working Group. (2019). Advancing Climate Justice in California: Guiding Principles and Recommendations for Policy and Funding Decisions.
<https://climatechange.policies.legislature.ca.gov/sites/climatechange.policies.legislature.ca.gov/files/Advancing%20Climate%20Justice%20Report.pdf>.

Cushing LJ, Y Ju, S Kulp, N Depsky, S Karasaki, J Jaeger, A Raval, B Strauss, R Morello-Frosch. 2023. Toxic Tides and Environmental Injustice: Social Vulnerability to Sea Level Rise and Flooding of Hazardous Sites in Coastal California. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2023, 57, 19, 7370–7381. <https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c07481>.

Cutler EM, MR Albert, CD White. 2020. Tradeoffs between beach nourishment and managed retreat: Insights from dynamic programming for climate adaptation decisions <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364815219303639>

Cutter SL, BL Boruff, WL Shirley. 2003. Social vulnerability to environmental hazards. *Social Science Quarterly*, p. 243. <https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6237.8402002>.

Cutter SL, CT Emrich, JJ Hanney (Webb), D Morath. 2009. Social Vulnerability to Climate Variability Hazards: A Review of Literature. Final Report to Oxfam America. 1-44.

Dangendorf, S., Hay, C., Calafat, F. M., Marcos, M., Piecuch, C. G., Berk, K., & Jensen, J. (2019). Persistent acceleration in global sea level rise since the 1960s. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(9), 705–710. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0531-8>

Dartt-Newton D, J Erlandson. 2006. “Little Choice for the Chumash: Colonialism, Cattle, and Coercion in Mission Period California.” *The American Indian Quarterly* 30. No. 3: 416–30. <https://doi.org/10.1353/aiq.2006.0020>.

DeConto RM, Pollard D. 2016. Contribution of Antarctica to past and future sea-level rise. *Nature* 531: 591-7

DeConto, R.M., Pollard, D., Alley, R.B. et al. The Paris Climate Agreement and future sea-level rise from Antarctica. *Nature* 593, 83–89 (2021). <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03427-0>

Dettinger M. 2011. Climate change, atmospheric rivers, and floods in California – A multimodel analysis of storm frequency and magnitude changes. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 47(3): 514-523. [doi: 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2011.00546.x](https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2011.00546.x).

Dunlop, T., Khojasteh, D., Cohen-Shacham, E. et al. 2024. The evolution and future of research on Nature-based Solutions to address societal challenges. *Commun Earth Environ* 5, 132. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-024-01308-8>

Edwards BD, KR Evans. 2002. Saltwater Intrusion in Los Angeles Area Coastal Aquifers– the Marine Connection. U.S. Geological Survey Fact Sheet 030-02. <http://geopubs.wr.usgs.gov/fact-sheet/fs030-02/>.

Environmental Justice for All: A Fifty State Survey of Legislation, Policy and Cases, fourth edition (2010).

Fazey, I. R. A., Wise, R. M., Lyon, C., Campeanu, C., Moug, P., & Davies, T. E. (2015). Past and future adaptation pathways. *Climate and Development*.

<https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014.989192>

Flick RE, DB Chadwick, J Briscoe, KC Harper. 2012. "Flooding" versus "Inundation", *Eos* 93(38): 365-366. [doi: 10.1029/2012EO380009](https://doi.org/10.1029/2012EO380009).

Fox-Kemper, B., H.T. Hewitt, C. Xiao, G. Aðalgeirsdóttir, S.S. Drijfhout, T.L. Edwards, N.R. Golledge, M. Hemer, R.E. Kopp, G. Krinner, A. Mix, D. Notz, S. Nowicki, I.S. Nurhati, L. Ruiz, J.-B. Sallée, A.B.A. Slangen, and Y. Yu, 2021: Ocean, Cryosphere and Sea Level Change. In *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1211–1362, [doi:10.1017/9781009157896.011](https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896.011).

https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_Chapter09.pdf

Frederikse, T., Landerer, F., Caron, L., Adhikari, S., Parkes, D., Humphrey, V. W., Dangendorf, S., Hogarth, P., Zanna, L., Cheng, L., & Wu, Y.-H. (2020). The causes of sea level rise since 1900. *Nature*, 584(7821), 393–397. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2591-3>

Funayama K, E Hines, J Davis, S Allen. 2012. Effects of sea-level rise on northern elephant seals at Point Reyes peninsula, California. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 23(2): 233-245. [doi: 10.1002/aqc.2318](https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2318).

Garcia, R., & Flores Baltodano, E. (2005). Free the Beach! Public Access, Equal Justice, and the California Coast. *Stanford Journal of Civil Rights and Civil Liberties*. 143.

<https://www.coastal.ca.gov/coastalvoices/resources/StanfordFreetheBeach.pdf>.

Gould, K & T Lewis. (2018). From Green Gentrification to Resilience Gentrification: An Example from Brooklyn. *City & Community*. 17:12-15.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/324160811_From_Green_Gentrification_to_Resilience_Gentrification_An_Example_from_Brooklyn1.

Governor's Office of Planning and Research. (OPR). 2024. Vulnerable Communities Definition Modification. https://opr.ca.gov/climate/icarp/tac/meetings/2024-03-29/docs/20240329-Item6_Vulnerable_Communities_Definition_Update_Memo.pdf.

Griggs GB. 2010. *Introduction to California's Beaches and Coast*. University of California Press. 311 pp.

Griggs, G, Árvai, J, Cayan, D, DeConto, R, Fox, J, Fricker, HA, Kopp, RE, Tebaldi, C, Whiteman, EA (California Ocean Protection Council Science Advisory Team Working Group). *Rising Seas in*

California: An Update on Sea-Level Rise Science. California Ocean Science Trust, April 2017.
<https://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/ftp/pdf/docs/rising-seas-in-california-an-update-on-sea-level-rise-science.pdf>

Griggs, G. and K. Patsch, 2019. "The protection/hardening of California's coast -- Times are changing." *J. Coastal Research*, 35(5), 1051-1061.

Hall, J.A., S. Gill, J. Obeysekera, W. Sweet, K. Knuuti, and J. Marburger, 2016: Regional Sea Level Scenarios for Coastal Risk Management: Managing the Uncertainty of Future Sea Level Change and Extreme Water Levels for Department of Defense Coastal Sites Worldwide. U.S. Department of Defense, Strategic Environmental Research and Development Program, Alexandria, VA, 224 pp. https://climateandsecurity.files.wordpress.com/2014/01/regional-sea-level-scenarios-for-coastal-risk-management_managing-uncertainty-of-future-sea-level-change-and-extreme-water-levels-fordepartment-of-defense.pdf

Hanson RT, P Martin, KM Koczot. 2002b. Simulation of Ground-Water/Surface-Water Flow in the Santa Clara–Calleguas Ground-Water Basin, Ventura County, California. US Geological Survey Water Resources Investigations Report 02-4136. 157 pp.
<http://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/wri024136/wrir024136.pdf>.

Hanson RT, RR Everett, MW Newhouse, SM Crawford, MI Pimental, GA Smith. 2002a. Geohydrology of a Deep-Aquifer System Monitoring-Well Site at Marina, Monterey County, California. US Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 02-4003. 36pp.
<http://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/wri024003/pdf/text.pdf>.

Harvard Ash Center. (2022). "Returning Land to Native Nations is about Righting Historical Wrongs—and Also Stemming Future Environmental Disaster." *Ash Center for Democratic Governance and Innovation*. <https://ash.harvard.edu/articles/returning-land-to-native-nations-is-about-righting-historical-wrongs-and-also-stemming-future-environmental-disaster>

Heberger M, H Cooley, P Herrera, PH Gleick, E Moore. 2009. The Impacts of Sea-Level Rise on the California Coast. Prepared by the Pacific Institute for the California Climate Change Center.
<https://pacinst.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/sea-level-rise.pdf>.

Hill, K., Hirschfeld, D., Lindquist, C., Cook, F., & Warner, S. (2023). Rising Coastal Groundwater as a Result of Sea-Level Rise Will Influence Contaminated Coastal Sites and Underground Infrastructure. *Earth's Future*, 11(9), e2023EF003825. <https://doi.org/10.1029/2023EF003825>

Hoffman, J.S., Shandas, V., & Pendleton, N. (2020). The Effects of Historical Housing Policies on Resident Exposure to Intra-Urban Heat: A Study of 108 US Urban Areas. *Climate*, 8(1), 12, <https://doi.org/10.3390/cli8010012>.

Hoover DJ, KO Odigie, PW Swarzenski, P Barnard. 2016. Sea-level rise and coastal groundwater inundation and shoaling at select sites in California, USA. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*

11 (2017) 234–249. http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/15-16/bill/asm/ab_2601-2650/ab_2616_bill_20160924_chaptered.htm

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2021: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 2391 pp. [doi:10.1017/9781009157896](https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896).

Izbicki JA. 1996. Seawater Intrusion in a Coastal California Aquifer. USGS Fact Sheet 96-125. <http://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/1996/0125/report.pdf>.

Jacquelynn R. King, Vera N. Agostini, Christopher J. Harvey, Gordon A. McFarlane, Michael G. G. Foreman, James E. Overland, Emanuele Di Lorenzo, Nicholas A. Bond, Kerim Y. Aydin, Climate forcing and the California Current ecosystem, ICES Journal of Marine Science, Volume 68, Issue 6, July 2011, Pages 1199–1216, <https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsr009>

Judicial Council of California, 2022

Kato-Huerta, Jarumi, Geneletti, Davide. 2022. Environmental justice implications of nature-based solutions in urban areas: A systematic review of approaches, indicators, and outcomes. Environmental Science and Policy. Volume 138. Pg. 122-133. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2022.07.034>

Kopp RE, RM Horton, CM Little, JX Mitrovica, M Oppenheimer, DJ Rasmussen, BH Strauss, C Tebaldi. 2014. Probabilistic 21st and 22nd century sea-level projections at a global network of tide-gauge sites. Earth’s Future 2(8): 383-406. [doi:10.1002/2014EF000239](https://doi.org/10.1002/2014EF000239).

Kornell S. 2012. Will Climate Change Wipe Out Surfing? Pacific Standard. <https://psmag.com/social-justice/will-climate-change-wipe-out-surfing-44209>.

Kudela RM, S Seeyave, WP Cochlan. 2010. The role of nutrients in regulation and promotion of harmful algal blooms in upwelling systems. Progress in Oceanography 85: 122-135. [doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2010.02.008](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2010.02.008).

Leonard, K. 2021. WAMPUM Adaptation framework: eastern coastal Tribal Nations and sea level rise impacts on water security. Climate and Development, 13:9, 842-851, [10.1080/17565529.2020.1862739](https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2020.1862739).

LeRoy, S. and R. Wiles. 2019. “High tide tax”, Center for Climate Integrity, 27 pp. https://www.climatecosts2040.org/files/ClimateCosts2040_Report.pdf

Lester C, M Matella. 2016. Managing the Coastal Squeeze: Resilience Planning for Shoreline Residential Development. *Stanford Environmental Law, Journal* 23, Vol 36.
<https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/lester.pdf>.

Lester, C.; Griggs, G.; Patsch, K., and Anderson, R., 0000. Shoreline retreat in California: Taking a step back. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 00(0), 000–000. Coconut Creek (Florida), ISSN 0749-0208.

Limber PW, PL Barnard, S Vitousek, LH Erickson. 2018. A model ensemble for projecting multi-decadal coastal cliff retreat during the 21st century. *Journal of Geophysical Research Earth Surface*. <https://doi.org/10.1029/2017JF004401>

Little Hoover Commission (LHC). 2014. Governing California Through Climate Change. Report #221, July 2014. 98pp. <https://lhc.ca.gov/report/governing-california-through-climate-change/>.

Lowe JA, PL Woodworth, T Knutson, RE McDonald, KI McInnes, K Woth, H von Storch, J Wolf, V Swail, NB Berier, S Gulev, KJ Horsburgh, AS Unnikrishnan, JR Hunter, R Weisse. 2010. Past and future changes in extreme sea levels and waves. In: *Understanding Sea-Level Rise and Variability*, [JA Church, PL Woodworth, T Aarup, WS Wilson (eds.)]. Wiley-Blackwell, UK, pp. 326-375.

Lynn, Austin, and Tracy Elsey-Quirk. 2024. "Salt Water Exposure Exacerbates the Negative Response of *Phragmites australis* Haplotypes to Sea-Level Rise" *Plants* 13, no. 6: 906.
<https://doi.org/10.3390/plants13060906>

May, C. 2020. "[Rising groundwater and sea-level rise,](#)" *Nature Climate Change*, *Nature*, vol. 10(10), pages 889-890, October.

Melillo JM, TC Richmond, GW Yohe (eds). 2014. *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*. Report for the US Global Change Research Program, 841 pp. [doi:10.7930/J0Z31WJ2](https://doi.org/10.7930/J0Z31WJ2).

Monterey County Water Resources Agency (MCWRA). 2012. *Historic Seawater Intrusion Maps*. Last accessed: 9 March 2015.
http://www.mcwra.co.monterey.ca.us/seawater_intrusion_monitoring/seawater_intrusion_maps.php.

Moser SC, MA Davidson, P Kirshen, P Mulvaney, JF Murley, JE Neumann, L Petes, D Reed. 2014. Chapter 25: Coastal Zone Development and Ecosystems. In: *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*, [JM Melillo, TC Richmond, GW Yohe (eds.)], US Global Change Research Program, pp. 579-618. [doi:10.7930/JOMS3QNW](https://doi.org/10.7930/JOMS3QNW).

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2023. 2020 Marine Economy Report: California. Office for Coastal Management. Accessed 27 March 2024.
<https://coast.noaa.gov/data/digitalcoast/pdf/marine-economy-california.pdf>

National Research Council (NRC). 2012. Sea-Level Rise for the Coasts of California, Oregon, and Washington: Past, Present, and Future. Report by the Committee on Sea Level Rise in California, Oregon, and Washington. National Academies Press, Washington, DC. 250 pp.
<https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/13389/sea-level-rise-for-the-coasts-of-california-oregon-and-washington>.

Nerem, R. S., Beckley, B. D., Fasullo, J. T., Hamlington, B. D., Masters, D., & Mitchum, G. T. (2018). Climate-change–driven accelerated sea level rise detected in the altimeter era. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(9), 2022–2025.
<https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1717312115>

Nishikawa T, AJ Siade, EG Reichard, DJ Ponti, AG Canales, TA Johnson. 2009. Stratigraphic controls on seawater intrusion and implications for groundwater management, Dominguez Gap area of Los Angeles, California, USA. *Hydrogeology Journal* 17(7): 1699-1725.
<https://doi.org/10.1007/s10040-009-0481-8>.

Ocean Protection Council (OPC). 2010. Interim Guidance: Coastal and Ocean Working Group of the California Climate Action Team (CO-CAT).
http://opc.ca.gov/webmaster/ftp/pdf/agenda_items/20110311/12.SLR_Resolution/SLR-Guidance-Document.pdf.

Ocean Protection Council (OPC). 2013. State of California Sea-Level Rise Guidance Document.
http://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/ftp/pdf/docs/2013_SLR_Guidance_Update_FINAL1.pdf.

Ocean Protection Council (OPC). 2017. Rising Seas in California: An Update on Sea-Level Rise Science. <https://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/ftp/pdf/docs/rising-seas-in-california-an-update-on-sea-level-rise-science.pdf>

Ocean Protection Council (OPC). 2018. State of California Sea-Level Rise Guidance: 2018 Update. http://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/ftp/pdf/agenda_items/20180314/Item3_Exhibit-A_OPC_SLR_Guidance-rd3.pdf

Ocean Protection Council (OPC). 2024. State of California Sea Level Rise Guidance: 2024 Science & Policy Update <https://opc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/Item-4-Exhibit-A-Final-Draft-Sea-Level-Rise-Guidance-Update-2024-508.pdf>

Parris A, P Bromirski, V Burkett, D Cayan, M Culver, J Hall, R Horton, K Knuuti, R Moss, J Obeysekera, A Sallenger, J Weiss. 2012. Global Sea Level Rise Scenarios for the US National Climate Assessment. NOAA Tech Memo OAR CPO-1. 37 pp.
http://scenarios.globalchange.gov/sites/default/files/NOAA_SLR_r3_0.pdf.

Pellow, D. N. (2000). Environmental Inequality Formation: Toward a Theory of Environmental Injustice. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 43(4), 581-601.

<https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764200043004004>

Ponti DJ, KD Ehman, BD Edwards, JC Tinsley III, T Hildenbrand, JW Hillhouse, RT Hanson, K McDougall, CL Powell II, E Wan, M Land, S Mahan, AM Sarna-Wojcicki. 2007. A 3-Dimensional Model of Water-Bearing Sequences in the Dominguez Gap Region, Long Beach, California. US Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007-1013. <http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2007/1013/>.

Radke, J.D, G.S. Biging, K. Roberts, M. Schmidt-Poolman, H. Foster, E. Roe, Y. Ju, S. Lindbergh, T. Beach, L. Maier, Y. He, M. Ashenfarb, P. Norton, M. Wray, A. Alruheili, S. Yi, R. Rau, J. Collins, D. Radke, M. Coufal, S. Marx, A. Gohar, D. Moanga, V. Ulyashin, A. Dalal. (University of California, Berkeley) 2018. Assessing Extreme Weather-Related Vulnerability and Identifying Resilience Options for California’s Interdependent Transportation Fuel Sector. California’s Fourth Climate Change Assessment, California Energy Commission. Publication Number: CCA4-CEC-2018-012.

Ranasinghe R, TM Duong, S Uhlenbrook, D Roelvink, M Stive. 2012. Climate-change impact assessment for inlet-interrupted coastlines. *Nature Climate Change* 3(1): 83-87.

[doi:10.1038/nclimate1664](https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1664).

Reeder LA, TC Rick, JM Erlandson. 2010. Our disappearing past: a GIS analysis of the vulnerability of coastal archaeological resources in California’s Santa Barbara Channel region. *Journal of Coastal Conservation* 16(2): 187-197. [doi: 10.1007/s11852-010-0131-2](https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-010-0131-2).

Reineman, D. R., Thomas, L. N., & Caldwell, M. R. (2017). Using local knowledge to project sea level rise impacts on wave resources in California. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 138, 181–191. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2017.01.020>

Reineman, D.R., Wedding, L.M., Hartge, E.H., McEnery W., & Reiblich, J. (2016). Coastal Access Equity and the Implementation of the California Coastal Act. *Stanford Environmental Journal of Law*, Vol. 36:89, pp 89-108.

<https://law.stanford.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2017/11/reineman.pdf>.

Revell DL, R Battalio, B Spear, P Ruggiero, J Vandever. 2011. A methodology for predicting future coastal hazards due to sea-level rise on the California coast. *Climatic Change* 109(Suppl 1): 251-276. [doi:10.1007/s10584-011-0315-2](https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0315-2).

Roos, M. (2018). Climate Justice Summary Report. California’s Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication number: SUM-CCA4-2018-012. (E4 Strategic Solutions).

<https://resourceslegacyfund.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Climate-Justice-Report-4CCCAv.4-00455673xA1C15.pdf>

Rowland-Shea, J, S Doshi, S Edberg, R Fanger. 2020. The Nature Gap: Confronting Racial and Economic Disparities in the Destruction and Protection of Nature in America. Center for American Progress.

<https://www.americanprogress.org/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2020/07/The-Nature-Gap4.pdf>.

Ryan JP, MA McManus, JM Sullivan. 2010. Interacting physical, chemical and biological forcing of phytoplankton thin-layer variability in Monterey Bay, California. *Continental Shelf Research* 30(1): 7-16. [doi:10.1016/j.csr.2009.10.017](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csr.2009.10.017).

Sadrpour, N., & Reineman, D. R. (2023). The impacts of climate change on surfing resources. *Shore & Beach*, 91(1), 32-48. <https://doi.org/10.34237/1009113>

San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission. 2024. Regional Shoreline Adaptation Plan. Bay Adapt. <https://www.bayadapt.org/regional-shoreline-adaptation-plan/>

Sea-Level Rise Leadership Team. (January 2022). State Agency Sea-Level Rise Action Plan for California. https://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/media_library/2022/02/Item-7_Exhibit-A_SLR-Action-Plan-Final.pdf

Senate Bill No. 1, Atkins. Coastal resources: sea level rise. 2021. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB1

Senate Bill No. 272, Laird. Sea level rise: planning and adaptation. 2023. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160SB272

Siders, A.R., Ajibade, I. 2021. Introduction: Managed retreat and environmental justice in a changing climate. *J Environ Stud Sci* 11, 287–293. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-021-00700-6>.

State of California: Governor’s Office of Planning and Research, Baca, E., McCormick, M., Litchney, S., & Shirazi, S. (n.d.). 2023. General Plan Guidelines. https://opr.ca.gov/docs/OPR_COMPLETE_7.31.17.pdf

Sweet, W. V., Kopp, R. E., Weaver, C. P., Obeysekera, J., Horton, R. M., Thieler, E. R., & Zervas, C. (2022). Global and regional sea level rise scenarios for the United ... GLOBAL AND REGIONAL SEA LEVEL RISE SCENARIOS FOR THE UNITED STATES. https://tidesandcurrents.noaa.gov/publications/techrpt83_Global_and_Regional_SLR_Scenarios_for_the_US_final.pdf

Sweet, W.V., B.D. Hamlington, R.E. Kopp, C.P. Weaver, P.L. Barnard, D. Bekaert, W. Brooks, M. Craghan, G. Dusek, T. Frederikse, G. Garner, A.S. Genz, J.P. Krasting, E. Larour, D. Marcy, J.J. Marra, J. Obeysekera, M. Osler, M. Pendleton, D. Roman, L. Schmied, W. Veatch, K.D. White, and C. Zuzak, 2022: Global and Regional Sea Level Rise Scenarios for the United States: Updated

Mean Projections and Extreme Water Level Probabilities Along U.S. Coastlines. NOAA Technical Report NOS 01. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service, Silver Spring, MD, 111 pp. <https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/hazards/sealevelrise/noaa-nostechrpt01-global-regional-SLR-scenarios-US.pdf>

Taylor, D.E. (2000). The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 43(4), 508-580. <https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764200043004003>.

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2019. Climate Change Vulnerability Assessments. <https://dot.ca.gov/programs/transportation-planning/division-of-transportation-planning/air-quality-and-climate-change/2019-climate-change-vulnerability-assessments>

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2020. Adaptation Priorities Reports. <https://dot.ca.gov/programs/transportation-planning/division-of-transportation-planning/air-quality-and-climate-change/2020-adaptation-priorities-reports>

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2021. Caltrans Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment Statewide Summary Report. 28 pp. <https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/transportation-planning/documents/office-of-smart-mobility-and-climate-change/caltrans-climate-change-vulnerability-assessment-statewide-summary-feb2021-a11y.pdf>

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2021. Climate Action Plan for Transportation Infrastructure (CAPTI). 47 pp. <https://calsta.ca.gov/-/media/calsta-media/documents/capti-july-2021-a11y.pdf>

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2022. Climate Change Emphasis Area Guidance for Corridor Planning. 58 pp. <https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dotmedia/programs/transportation-planning/documents/cc-ea-guide-for-corridor-planning-march2022-a11y.pdf>

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2023. Adaptation Strategies for Transportation Infrastructure. 21 pp. <https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dotmedia/programs/transportation-planning/documents/adaptation-strategies-transportation-infrastructure-a11y.pdf>

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2024. State Climate Resilience Improvement Plan for Transportation. 47pp. <https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/transportation-planning/documents/division-transportation-planning/2023-script-final-with-letters-a11y.pdf>

The San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC). 2021. San Francisco Bay Plan Climate Change Policy Guidance.

<https://bcdca.gov/bpacc/San-Francisco-Bay-Plan-Climate-Change-Policy-Guidance.pdf>

The White House. (2021). Executive Order 14008 on Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad. <https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/01/27/executive-order-on-tackling-the-climate-crisis-at-home-and-abroad/>

The White House. (2023). Executive Order 14096 Revitalizing Our Nation's Commitment to Environmental Justice for All. <https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2023/04/21/executive-order-on-revitalizing-our-nations-commitment-to-environmental-justice-for-all/>

The White House. 2022. Government-Wide Environmental Justice Initiative Called Justice40. <https://www.whitehouse.gov/environmentaljustice/justice40/>

Thompson, P. R., Widlansky, M. J., Hamlington, B. D., Merrifield, M. A., Marra, J. J., Mitchum, G. T., & Sweet, W. (2021). Rapid increases and extreme months in projections of United States high-tide flooding. *Nature Climate Change*, 11(7), 584–590. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01077-8>

Titus JG (ed.). 1988. Greenhouse Effect, Sea Level Rise, and Coastal Wetlands. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Wetland Protection. EPA-230-05-86-013. 156 pp. <http://papers.risingsea.net/Sea-level-rise-and-coastal-wetlands.html>.

Turner BL, EF Lambin, A Reenberg. 2007. The emergence of land change science for global environmental change and sustainability.

Uhler, B., & Chu, C. (2019). California's Geography of Wealth. California Legislative Analyst's Office. <https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2019/4093/ca-geography-wealth-090519.pdf>.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2021). Climate Change and Social Vulnerability in the United States: A Focus on Six Impacts. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. EPA 430-R-21-003. www.epa.gov/cira/social-vulnerability-report.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2022). Environmental Justice Timeline. <https://www.epa.gov/environmentaljustice/environmental-justice-timeline>.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2024). "Learn about Environmental Justice." <https://www.epa.gov/environmentaljustice/learn-about-environmental-justice>

United States Geological Survey. (2022). "Climate Change, Coastal Tribes, and Indigenous Communities." <https://www.usgs.gov/news/featured-story/climate-change-coastal-tribes-and-indigenous-communities>

Van Dyke E. 2012. Water levels, wetland elevations, and marsh loss. Elkhorn Slough Technical Report Series 2012: 2. 20pp.

http://library.elkhornslough.org/research/bibliography/VanDyke_2012_Water_Levels_Wetland_Elevations.pdf.

Vitousek S, PL Barnard, CH Fletcher, N Frazer, L Erickson, CD Storlazzi. 2017. Doubling of coastal flooding frequency within decades due to sea-level rise. *Scientific Reports* 7(1399).

[DOI:10.1038/s41598-017-01362-7](https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01362-7)

Vitousek, S., Cagigal, L., Montaña, J., Rueda, A., Mendez, F., Coco, G., & Barnard, P. L. (2021). The Application of Ensemble Wave Forcing to Quantify Uncertainty of Shoreline Change Predictions. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface*, 126(7), e2019JF005506.

<https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JF005506>

Vitousek, S., Vos, K., Splinter, K. D., Erikson, L., & Barnard, P. L. (2023). A Model Integrating Satellite-Derived Shoreline Observations for Predicting Fine-Scale Shoreline Response to Waves and Sea-Level Rise Across Large Coastal Regions. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface*, 128(7), e2022JF006936. <https://doi.org/10.1029/2022JF006936>

Willis, J., Hamlington, B., & Fournier, S. (2023). Global Mean Sea Level, Trajectory and Extrapolation (Version 101) [dataset]. Zenodo. <https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7702315>

Wood, N., Jones, J.M., Henry K., Ng, P., Hou, C.Y., 2020, Hazard Exposure Reporting and Analytics, U.S. Geological Survey web application, <https://www.usgs.gov/apps/hera>